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 ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                                               Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

	STEPHEN W. WIGGINS, 

                                                   Employee, 

                                                            Applicant,

                                                   v. 

UNION OIL CO. OF CALIFORNIA,

 (self-insured)                             Employer,

                                                           Defendant.
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)
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)
	          FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case No.  199423202
        AWCB Decision No.  05-0257

         Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

         on October  6, 2005


We heard the employee's claim for temporary total disability (“TTD”) benefits, permanent partial impairment (“PPI”) benefits, permanent total disability (“PTD”) benefits, medical benefits, transportation costs, penalties, and interest in Anchorage, Alaska, on September 1, 2004.  The employee represented himself.  Attorney Rick Wagg represented the self-insured employer.  We heard this matter as a two-member panel, a quorum under AS 23.30.005(f).  We kept the record open to receive supplemental medical records, a supplemental SIME
 report and to provide an opportunity for the parties to comment on the additional evidence.  We closed the record on September 7, 2005.
ISSUES

(1)  
Is the employee entitled to TTD benefits from September 1, 1999 through February 15, 2000, under AS 23.30.185?

(2) 
Is the employee entitled to additional PPI benefits in excess of 10%, under AS 23.30.190?

(3)
Is the employee entitled to PTD benefits, under AS 23.30.180?

(4) 
Is the employee entitled to medical benefits, under AS 23.30.095?

(5)
Is the employee entitled to medical-related transportation benefits, under AS 23.30.095 and 8 AAC 45.082 and 8 AAC 45.084? 

(6) 
Is the employee entitled to penalties on late paid benefits, under AS 23.30.155(e)?

(7) 
Is the employee entitled to interest, under AS 23.30.155(p)?

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

In September 1994 the employee was injured while attending employer sponsored training in Reno, Nevada.  The employer has accepted compensability of the injury and paid medical, TTD benefits, and PPI benefits to the employee.  The employee testified that he was attending fire control training as part of his work duties.  The employee was on a “team” that was required to attack the fire allowing the other team to extinguish the source.  The fire hose was at full force and he was the only one manning the hose.  At the end of the day of training, his shoulder was sore.  He testified that he returned to the hotel and took over the counter anti-inflammatory pain medication.  

By the time the employee returned home to Kenai, Alaska, he had developed back pain and numbness radiating down his right leg.  The employee filed a report of injury on November 3, 1994 alleging a low back injury.  The employer accepted compensability of the injury and paid indemnity and medical benefits. An MRI of the spine revealed mild degenerative changes at L5-S1 without evidence of disc herniation.
  On December 19, 1994, physiatrist Robert Fu, M.D. examined the employee.  Dr. Fu performed Electrodiagnostic testing which was normal.   

On February 10, 1995, the employer commended the employee for completing 18 months of sobriety.

On February 11, 1995, orthopedic surgeon Brian Laycoe, M.D., and neurologist James McDee-Watson, M.D. evaluated the employee at the request of the employer.
  They concluded the employee had incurred a lumbar strain with leg complaints suggestive of compression, numbness and questionably suppressed reflexes of the right knee and ankle.
  Drs. Laycoe and McDee-Watson recommended the employee return to Dr. Fu for additional assessment.  

To deal with the employee’s complaints of pain, Dr. Fu suggested facet injections, which provided no significant benefit to the employee.  The employee next saw anesthesiologist, Bob Swift, M.D.  Dr. Swift preformed an epidural steroid injection at L5-S1 on August 25, 1995.  The employee reported no significant improvement.  The employee returned to Dr. Fu who diagnosed low back pain with degenerative discs and opined that the employee may need “lumbar surgical intervention.”
  By letter dated October 31, 1995, the employee’s primary treating physician, Jim Sanders, D.O., suggested a referral to an orthopedic surgeon to determine if he was a surgical candidate evaluate the employee.  Dr. Sanders also “recommended [the employee] be confined to a desk job due to his back condition.”

On November 14, 1995, orthopedic surgeon Davis Peterson, M.D., examined the employee.  Dr. Peterson ordered x-rays that revealed bilateral spondylolisthesis of L5 with Grade 1 spondylolisthesis.  A CT scan was completed on November 17, 1995.  It revealed steep lordosis of the lumbosacral junction with grade 1 spondylolisthesis and right sided bulging of the L5-S1 disc possibly irritating the right L5 nerve root.

The employee continued with conservative treatment and commenced physical therapy.   However, the employee failed to improve and Dr. Peterson preformed a lumbar fusion on February 26, 1996.  The employee was recovering and at 7 weeks post surgery he was having minimal right leg pain and occasional left sided low back and sacral pain.  By December 1996 there was still some numbness in the calf and the employee continued to have an atalgic gait.  He was released to return to light duty work. It was anticipated that if the employee progressed as expected, the hardware would be removed in 6 – 8 months.  However, the employee did not progress as expected.  Dr. Peterson re-did the fusion on April 4, 1997 and removed the employee from work.  The employee was released to return to light duty on July 30, 1997.  He gradually increased his work hours from part-time to full-time although he was remained on light duty supervisory status.  

On September 9, 1997, Dr. Peterson found the employee was medically stable, and under the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, (4th Ed.) (“AMA Guides”)
 rated the employee at a 19% whole person PPI.  Dr. Peterson apportioned 9% to the employee’s preexisting condition and 10% to the employee’s work injury.  Dr. Peterson also released the employee to medium level work.
  The employer paid the 10% PPI rating in a lump sum on October 13, 1997.

From 1993 through July of 2001, the employee’s medical records indicate varying levels of alcohol consumption ranging from abstinence to excessive alcohol intake.  On October 11, 1999, Amy Larsen M.S.P.T. evaluated the employee.  Ms. Larsen notes reflect that the employee reported changing his “blood pressure medicine 5 times in the past 2 weeks, sometimes makes him dizzy.”
  

Dr. Deede examined the employee on October 22, 1999, in response to a request from the personnel department indicating that they needed verification and justification for the employee being off work.  

This request for verification came as a surprise to me because I had never relieved him of work and my last assessment which was done in Sept. as per notes, it was my understanding that Dr. Sanders had done temporary evaluation and it was my urging [the employee] at that point that he go ahead and have reassessment with Dr. Sanders so that he could be allowed to return to work.  I anticipated at that time especially with the nml. Potassium that I had that Dr. Sanders would release him to work within a day or two after that last exam.. . . I have received a copy of Dr. Levine’s note from that assessment where Dr. Levine very clearly indicated that the patient be at physical therapy and he is to stay at work so he could continue strength building….[the employee] has remained off work since that last visit with me.  This is to my knowledge unauthorized.

The employee informed Dr. Deede that he had been drinking occasionally.  He drank 1-2 beers occasionally in social situations.
  The employee also informed Dr. Deede that he had not been taking his blood pressure pills consistently.  When checked, his blood pressure was slightly elevated.  Dr. Deede concluded that the employee should return to work, avoid lifting and bending activities and get his blood pressure checked twice a week.

On December 16, 1999, the employer wrote to physiatrist, Larry Levine, M.D., and inquired whether the employee could return to his position at the time of injury and whether any work restrictions could be lifted.  Dr. Levine saw the employee on referral from M.C. Deede, M.D.  

 In early 2000, William Kelly, M.D., recommended a liver biopsy after liver function tests revealed abnormal results, but the employee declined.  Dr. Kelly opined that the employee was fully capable of returning to work.
  

In July 2000, Timothy Crimmins, M.D., evaluated the employee suspecting alcoholic intoxication, pancreatitis, hepatitis and ascites.  The employee reported to Dr. Crimmins that he was drinking because of pain from recurrent surgeries, depression and Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder.  The employee was hospitalized and underwent detoxification treatment.  The employee left the hospital 2 days later against medical advice.  His discharge diagnosis includes alcohol dependence/intoxication, alcoholic hepatitis, pancratitis, Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, depression and hypertension.  

On August 28, 2000, the employee presented at the Central Peninsula General Hospital Emergency Room complaining of yellow skin color and belly pain.  The employee reported that an adverse reaction to Duract caused a liver enzyme elevation.  The employee stated that he was also depressed because he had been laid off from work and was drinking about a half gallon of whiskey every 2 ½ days.
  On August 31, 2000, 4 liters of icteric peritoneal fluid was removed from the employee’s peritoneal cavity.  He was discharged on September 2, 2000 and cautioned not to drink. “He understands that if he drinks more he is unlikely to survive and, as it is, the degree of liver dysfunction is considered severe with a 1 or 2 year mortality rate. [the employee’s] chance of surviving is based on his abstaining completely from alcohol, and in some ways, is based on luck.”

The employee was re-admitted to the hospital September 20, 2000 with end-stage liver disease due to alcohol abuse.  The employee was medevac’d to Providence Hospital where Geronimo Sahagun, M.D., treated him.  The employee believed he started drinking because he was laid off in July.  Since then he had consumed ½ gallon of whiskey per day and vicodin as needed.  The employee underwent exploratory surgery that revealed an ulcer.  Upon discharge, Dr. Sahagun emphasized several times the need for the employee to quit drinking.    Chart notes make no mention of Duract by either the employee or the doctors even though it was voluntarily withdrawn from the market in June 1998.  The employee stopped drinking and his liver function returned to normal by December 2001.

On September 10, 2002, the employer had the employee evaluated by Jack W Davies, Psy.D., internist Donald Ramsthel, M.D., neurosurgeon Paul Williams, M.D., and orthopedist John M. Fax, M.D.   

Dr. Davies diagnosed the employee with alcohol dependence, continuous, late stage II; narcotics dependence, continuous; and prescription III benzodiazepine dependence.  Dr. Davies did rule out mood disorders and diagnosed personality disorder, not otherwise specified.  It was Dr. Davies opinion that the alcohol dependence had interfered with and complicated any attempts to improve the employee’s mental health.  In response to specific questions, Dr. Davies indicated none of the diagnoses identified were related to the 1994 occupational injury and that there was no indication that the employee was mentally impaired from working October through November 1999. Nor had the employee suffered a new injury or psychiatric disorder from his work injury and sequela.  Regarding the employee’s ability to return to work:

. . .chemical dependency, and medical problems associated with it, are inhibiting him from returning to work.  At the date of this examination, he does not demonstrate the mental capacities to effectively problem solve in the competitive workplace.  This is most likely primarily due to toxicity from his chemical dependency, but it may be indicative of other factors.  It is clear, however, that it has nothing to do with back pain; in contrast, it is a consequence of neuropsychiatric pathology…No, I do not feel that [the employee] is capable of working at this time.  As mentioned above, he is totally overwhelmed by even minimal reductions in structure, and these will predictably lead to occupational failure.  The reason for this,… is most likely his chemical dependency and its attendant neurotoxicity.  Furthermore, this is more likely than not a transient condition which could be remediated by abstinence.  Once again, to clarify, this has nothing to do with his injury.

Drs. Williams and Fax opined the employee’s September 1994 work injury resulted in a lumbosacral strain.  “This is supported by an MRI of 11/23/94.  This does not demonstrate a herniated disc and a normal neurological examination and EMG examination by Dr. Fu in December 1994.”
  Drs. Williams and Fax commented that the employee said he took Duract for an extended period of time.  They opined that the medical records they reviewed did not mention Duract and that the pancreatitis and liver abnormalities were attributed to the employee’s extensive alcohol abuse.  Regarding the employee’s ability to return to work:

[w]e do not feel the inability to work at his usual occupation is the result of his work injury in 1994.  [The employee] in December of 1994 had a normal neurological examination and an EMG and a lumbar MRI in November of 1994, which did not show a herniated disc.  

[The employee] was operated on for presumably a disc that was felt to be herniated, and a grade I spondylolisthesis noted by Dr. Peterson and documented on a CT of the Lumbar spine on 11/17/95 with a bulge of the disc at L5-S1 with disc material extending into the region of the exiting right L5 nerve root.  This was not found until November of 1995 when his date of injury was reported as being 9/26/94.  It is our opinion his inability to return to work was the result of factors unrelated to his work injury of 1994, including surgery and alcoholism
.

 It was also their opinion that the employee’s chronic back pain was a result of his surgery in 1995 and his alcohol use.  Dr. Ramsthel conducted a record review and concluded that the employee’s alcohol abuse is the cause of the employee’s present complaints.  He also opined that it was not uncommon that the effects of any medication on the liver were reversible.
  

Physiatrist J. Michael James, M.D., examined the employee on November 7, 2002.  He diagnosed Post laminectomy/fusion with residual lumbosacral radiculopathy, active and chronic pain as well as degenerative changes of the lumbar spine.  A February 11, 2003 MRI revealed multilevel degenerative disc changes; prominent spondylolisthesis of L5-S1 with mild right sided foraminal stenosis; and small posterior annular tear at L4-5.

Robert P. Trombley, Ph.D., and Greg T. Roderer M.D., pain management specialists, examined the employee on March 25, 2003 at Advanced Pain Centers of Alaska.  Dr. Trombley recommended treatment focused on autonomic regulation and Dr. Roderer recommended a caudal epidural steroid injection to determine whether there was fibrosis in the epidural space.  The employee underwent the injection on April 23, 2003 and received minimal benefits.

In October 2003, the employee underwent a Racz procedure. In November 2003, Dr. Trombley prescribed physical therapy and was evaluating the employee for a spinal cord stimulator.

The Board ordered a panel SIME.  The SIME panel consisted of internist Paul L. Steer, M.D., psychiatrist and neurologist, Ronald G. Early, Ph.D., M.D., and orthopedic surgeon Thomas L. Gritzka, M.D.
  Dr. Steer diagnosed the employee as having chronic alcoholism – questionably currently dry, status post hepatic failure, pancreatitis, GI bleed, ulcers, and early renal failure in 2000 and 2001 secondary to alcoholism.  He also diagnosed chronic pain syndrome, chronic dependence prescription narcotics and benzodiazepines as well as possible Wernicke-Korsakoff syndrome (peripheral neuropathy, nystagmus, and balance problems)-secondary to alcoholic cerebella damage.  However, Dr. Steer did not attribute the employee’s alcoholism and subsequent complications to the work injury of September 1994.
  Additionally, Dr. Steer opined that it required “continued high usage of alcohol over years to cause the degree of liver failure that he manifested in the years 2000 and 2001 and its associated complications of pancreatitis and early renal failure.  It is unlikely that any medications contributed to the liver failure….”

Dr. Early evaluated the employee and opined that the employee’s employment with the employer was not a substantial factor in bringing about or significantly worsening any diagnosed condition of the employee.  He did not attribute any of the employee’s mental health issues to the September 1994 injury on a more probable than not basis.  Dr. Early did opine that the chronic alcohol abuse and dependence significantly impacted the employee’s ability to tolerate and recover from the work injuries.  He did not recommend any specific treatment although he did believe that treatment for pain, substance abuse and secondary mood alteration was indicated, although not related to work.  

Dr. Gritzka reviewed the records and films provided as well as conducted a physical examination of the employee.  He considered the evaluations of Drs. Steer and Early.  Dr. Gritzka was asked to provide a diagnosis and opine on whether work was a substantial factor in bringing about or significantly worsening the condition.  He responded:

1. Status post L5 S1 laminectomy (“Gill” procedure); status post L5 S1 posterolateral fusion with pedicle screw and rod construct; status post removal of internal fixation devices.

Mr. Wiggins’ employment with UNOCAL was a substantial factor in significantly worsening the antecedent condition of L5 S1 spondylolisthesis, resulting in the need for surgery, the lumbar fusion and removal of internal fixation devices.

2. Failed back surgery syndrome.  a) status post epidural steroid injections.  b) Racz procedure x2.

Mr. Wiggins’ employment with UNOCAL was a substantial factor in brining about diagnosis #2 and its subheads. Unfortunately Mr. Wiggins did not have a good response to his surgery.  He required additional treatment after removal of the internal fixation device.  This treatment consisted of a series of epidural steroid injections and a pressurized spinal injection (Racz procedure) that is intended to lyse post operative adhesions.

3. History of chronic alcoholism with history of chronic alcoholism [sic] with history of liver failure and pancreatitis.

I do not think that Mr. Wiggins’ Alcohol dependency and pancreatic conditions are the result of his work injury and or treatment for the work injury.  The examinee’s pancreatitis is a complication of alcohol abuse.  It is not reasonable, in my opinion, to argue that Mr. Wiggins became an alcoholic because of his back condition.

4. Psychological factors affecting physical condition.  

“Psychological factors affecting physical condition” is a non-psychiatric term for what psychiatrists would call a chronic pain syndrome. . . Chronic pain Syndrome [sic] has a dual etiology.  The individual with this diagnosis must have chronic pain.  However, they also must have an antecedent psychological predisposition to develop a chronic pain syndrome.  Given that an individual may have a psychological predisposition to develop a chronic pain syndrome but not develop such a syndrome in the absence of a provocative chronic pain I think that Mr. Wiggins employment with UNOCAL was a substantial factor in bringing about what would be called, in psychological parlance, a chronic pain syndrome.

Dr. Gritzka went on to explain that the employee had an antecedent spondylolisthesis at L5 S1, which became symptomatic on or around September 29, 1994:

His history is a relatively common one.  Individuals who have asymptomatic spondylolisthesis at L5 S1 that is rendered symptomatic by some work activity or other injury may not ever recover to their pre-injury status in terms of pain.  Mr. Wiggins had an antecedent condition that was significantly worsened by his work activities on or around 09/29/94 based on the history that he provided to me.  Specifically Mr. Wiggins stated that his fire training activity involved sweeping back and forth with a high pressure hose, following in which he developed discomfort in his back and a sense of numbness satiating into the toes of his right foot.  As the records indicate that he went on to develop significant pain related to his spondylolisthesis resulting in numerous procedures outlined above, a “sweeping” motion involves the rotating of the lumbar spine, a motion, especially when done with force, is known to aggravate antecedent spondylolisthesis and cause it to become symptomatic.  

Dr. Gritzka opined that the employee was not driven to drink by his work injury.  Regarding treatment received since September 2002, it was his opinion that all treatment except the Racz procedure and a spinal cord stimulator were reasonable and necessary. He explained that they should be regarded as “experimental.”  As to future treatment, Dr. Gritzka did not believe any further treatment would be helpful and thus was not indicated.   He felt the employee did have some restrictions related to his work injury but that he could perform work in the sedentary or sedentary light categories of the U.S. Department of Labor of Occupational Titles.  Finally, Dr. Gritzka opined that he would assign the employee a 20% PPI of the whole person rating.

Procedural Background

On August 29, 2002, the employer filed a notice of controversion, controverting
 time loss benefits from October 7, 1999 through November 10, 1999; TTD benefits from July 25, 2000 to present, medical benefits associated with the employee’s treatments for pancreatitis; and reemployment benefits.  The employer relied upon the October 22, 1999 report from Dr. Deede that there was no time loss authorized for the employee; the reports of Drs. Williams, Fax, Davies, and Ramsthel that work was not a substantial factor in the employee’s the pancreatitis; and the employee’s disabilities were not a result of his work injury but rather due to alcohol.  Finally, there was no evidence that the medication Duract caused any side effect or disability.

On October 2, 2002, the employer again controverted TTD benefits from October 7, 1999 through November 10, 1999 and from July 25, 2000, ongoing.  The employer relied upon the October 22, 1999 report from Dr. Deede that the employee can return to work and the reports of Drs. Williams, Fax, Davies, and Ramsthel that the hospitalization in September/October 2000 was not work related.  Additionally, the employer reasoned that there was no evidence that Duract caused any side effects or disability.

On August 29, 2002, the employer filed a controversion notice controverting the employee’s claim for TTD benefits asserting that Dr. Sanders’ medical release was not specific that the need to be off work was related to the employee’s work injury.

On August 5, 2003, the reemployment benefit administrator (“RBA”) concluded that the employee met the minimum requirements for a reemployment eligibility evaluation.

On August 8, 2003, the employee filed a claim for benefits seeking TTD benefits from September 1999 through February 15, 2000, PTD benefits from June 12, 2001 to present, medical benefits (including transportation) and $12.00 per hour plus pay lost by the employee’s wife when she was absent from work to care for him.

On August 15, 2003, the employer filed its petition appealing the RBA’s August 5, 2003 finding that the employee met the minimum requirements for an eligibility evaluation.

On September 2, 2003, the employer controverted the employee’s claim for TTD benefits from September 1, 1999 through February 15, 2000; PTD benefits from June 12, 2001 through present; PPI benefits in excess of 10%; unreasonable and unnecessary medical benefits including all medical benefits associated with the employee’s pancreatitis or alcohol dependence; reemployment benefits; reimbursement of the employee’s wife’s services; and penalties and interest.  The employer relied upon the reports of Drs. Ramsthel, Williams, and Davies in support of its contention that the employee’s inablity to work, if any, was not related to the employee’s September 26, 1994 work injury.  Furthermore, the employer argues all benefits due and owing have been timely paid or controverted, the employee’s claim is barred under AS 23.30.105(a), and there is no medical evidence that the employee required services of a medical attendant as a result of the September 26, 1994 injury.  

Testimony

The employee testified via deposition and at the September 1, 2005 hearing.  He explained the events leading up to the injury.  He explained how he believed the training exercise was unsafe. As an example he explained he was left alone to control a fire hose at full pressure for 20 – 30 minutes.  After that, his shoulder was sore.  The employee attempted to control the pain with over the counter medication.  When he returned to Alaska, his condition worsened and included his lower back.  He described being in such pain that walking became difficult.    

The employee testified that the employer moved him to a more sedentary position.  However, the restrooms were located in another building and it became difficult to walk back and forth.  

The employee discussed the success of his first surgery.  When he started to have problems, Dr. Peterson placed the employee in an upper body brace and prescribed a spinal stimulator.  The employee testified that he could not wear the stimulator around computers, as it would cause interference.  Therefore, he could not wear it at work.

The employee explained that he is seeking TTD benefits from September 1, 1999 through February 15, 2000 because his blood pressure medicine made him dizzy and he could not perform his job.  He asked for a new prescription that helped.  Before he could return to work, the employer wanted the employee to be examined by Dr. Deede who referred the employee to physiatrist Larry Levine, M.D.  Dr. Levine ordered 12 weeks of physical therapy, 6 at a physical therapist’s office and 6 weeks at home.  The employee stated that work would not accommodate his need for physical therapy and he was not permitted to return to work.  The employee believes that his high blood pressure and dizziness was caused by pain caused by the work injury.  The employee is seeking TTD because he had a doctor’s release stating he could return to work but the employer would not honor the release.

The employee testified that he was prescribed an anti-inflammatory named Duract.  Duract was a nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory analgesic for short–term use (10 days or less).  It was recalled and taken off the market based on reports of hepatic failure.  The employee was prescribed 90 + Duract in the fall of 1997.  He was instructed to take 1 or 2 pills every 8 – 12 hours as needed for pain.  Later on he learned that Duract was not to be used for more than 10 days. The employee explained that he believes it was the Duract that has caused his sever liver problems and pancreatitis.  The employee provided the Board with several documents regarding the Duract recall and incidences of adverse conditions. 

The employee explained how he took the Duract and noted a change in his urine color.  He had problems with hearing and he didn’t feel well.  He stopped taking Duract and his pain came back more severe.

He testified that he had been given a directive by the employer that he could not take a pain pills within 24 hours of coming into work.  He explained that he was always working overtime so he could not take his pain medication.  He testified that one day he went home and poured a couple of drinks and started drinking.  He stated that one day he was called in on his day off and when tested for alcohol, he tested but did not know why because had had not had anything to drink since the night before.  He stated that he waited a week, went back and tested positive again with an alcohol level of .04.  The employee testified that he had a couple of drinks two days earlier and that there should not have been any alcohol in his system.  He testified that he now understands that he didn’t feel well because he had pancreatitis from the Duract and that was impeding his ability to process alcohol.   

The employee had a successful military career but he could not go into specifics because it was classified.  He did state that he was honorably discharged.  When asked about his termination from his employment with the employer, the employee testified that he had been warned several years before his termination that the employer had it in for him because of his on the job injury.  He had also been told that he would be terminated because of his alcohol use. 

The employee agreed that he had received a 10% PPI benefit in October 1997.  He presently takes 4 to 5 vicodin a day plus muscle relaxants.  He explained that he did not drive unless he could plan his medications.

Finally, the employee testified that in his opinion, Dr. Steer’s evaluation was biased, speculative, and had numerous mistakes.  The employee believed Dr. Steer had already made up his mind before he walked in the room.

Dr. Gritzka testified via deposition. His testimony was consistent with his SIME report.  He opined that the employee’s complaints of seizures, etc. were not related to his work injury.  He described his observations of the employee’s embellished posture and stance during the SIME examination.  From an orthopedic standpoint, this was not indicative of an orthopedic problem.  Moreover, Dr. Gritzka did not believe the employee was putting forth his best effort during the evaluation.  Dr. Gritzka testified that the employee’s pattern of loss of sensation was consistent with his back injury and subsequent treatment.

When asked if he could find any orthopedic basis for the employee’s asserted inablility to stand straight, maintain balance or bend Dr. Gritzka opined:
Well, not – as far as his posture and his balance, no, no orthopedic explanation for those findings.

As far as his actual spinal motion, he had had all his surgery, and the actual motion of his lumbar spine was reasonable given what he had had done to him. 

But in spite of that, he didn’t meet the validity test.  So what this means is he may be better.  He may have more spinal range of motion than he actually demonstrated. But you can’t tell.

Dr. Gritzka testified that he believed the employee could perform light duty positions as long as the employee could change positions every hour or so.  Dr. Gritzka disagreed with the employee’s claim that he was permanently, totally disabled.  Rather, the employee’s limitations were consistent for someone with his injury and treatment.  When asked if there was any reason the employee could not have worked from 2001 to present, Dr. Gritzka replied:  “and I think that during that period of time he probably would have been able to do at least light-duty work, although he was probably having some symptoms for sure, that that wouldn’t have precluded him from—that wouldn’t have rendered him totally unable to work at any task.”

When asked to comment on appropriate future medical treatment for the employee, Dr. Gritzka opined that a stimulator was not indicated due to a multitude of factors including the employee’s chemical dependency issues, alcoholism, lack of objective evidence of recovery, and probable neurological damage from the alcohol.   He explained that if the employee were his patient, Dr. Gritzka would recommend a conservative management program where the employee should try to keep reasonably active, fit, and limber but not over do it; perhaps intermittent use of back support and minimal non-narcotic pain medication but no invasive procedures.  Dr. Gritzka cautioned that the employee has a high risk of dependency.  

Finally, when asked about the employee’s PPI rating, Dr. Gritzka explained that because the employee did not make a best effort, he had an invalid lumbar legion range of motion.  Therefore, he could not place the employee in a Category 4 so Dr. Gritzka placed the employee in a Category 3.  However, if the employee removed the non-anatomic findings, he could be Category 4. 

Rehabilitation specialist, Elisa Hitchcock, testified for the employer at the September 1, 2005 hearing.  She explained that the reviewed the medical records and depositions.  She did not meet with the employee.  Based on her review she formulated an opinion on the employee’s functional capacities.  Specifically, it was her professional opinion that the employee could participate in sedentary light duty work.  She also testified that she had conducted a market survey and there were jobs available that met sedentary light duty work criteria.  

Argument of the Employee
The employee argued that he is PTD.  He does not believe he could physically perform the jobs identified by Ms. Hitchcock.  Moreover, he must take his medication or else the pain becomes so great he is physically incapacitated.  Yet, he argued if he takes the medication he cannot work due to the narcotic effect.  The employee also argued that his pancreatitis and liver problems are attributable to Duract, which he took because of his back, therefore, these conditions are work related.  The employee also argued that he was entitled to TTD because his dizziness was ultimately caused by his work injury.

Argument of the Employer

The employer argues that there is no evidence to support the employee’s claim that he is PTD.  There are no medical records supporting the employee’s claim for TTD.  The employer argues that the employee’s work injury resolved long ago and any present need for medical treatment is not work related.  The employee has not established he is entitled to additional PPI benefits. 

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
I.
PERMANENT TOTAL DISABILITY BENEFITS

The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act at AS 23.30.180 provides, in part:  

PERMANENT TOTAL DISABILITY. In case of total disability adjudged to be permanent 80 per cent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the total disability. . . .  [P]ermanent total disability is determined in accordance with the facts.  

The employee is claiming PTD benefits under AS 23.30.180, for "total disability adjudged to be permanent."   Based on the preponderance of the evidence, we find the employee is able to return to the work force.   

The Alaska Supreme Court held in Meek v. Unocal Corp. that AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation, including PTD benefits, under the workers' compensation statute.
  The application of the presumption involves a three-step analysis.
  First, the claimant must establish a "preliminary link" between the disability and his or her employment. Second, once the preliminary link is established, it is the employer's burden to overcome the presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence that the injury was not work related.
 Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to the employer, and not the burden of proof, the Board examines the employer’s evidence in isolation.
 

However, for the presumption to attach, the employee must establish a preliminary link between his inability to work and his employment.
  In the instant case, the employee had testified that he couldn’t return to the work force due to his current medical issues, which he asserts are related to his work injury. We find this is minimally sufficient to establish preliminary link to attach the presumption of compensability.
   

The burden now shifts to the employer to present substantial evidence that there is regularly and continuously available work in the area suited to the employee’s capabilities.  We review the employer’s evidence in isolation.  We find the opinions of Drs. Gritzka, Peterson, Kelly, Williams and Fax that the employee has the physical ability to return to the workforce in a sedentary or light duty capacity persuasive.  We find the testimony of Ms. Hitchcock established that there is continuous and suitable work classified as sedentary or light duty capacity.   We find the employee’s inability to work is due to his unwillingness to work rather than unavailability of jobs within his limited capabilities.
   We find the employer has presented substantial evidence that the employee is not PTD.

Having rebutted the presumption, the employee must now prove his PTD claim by a preponderance of the evidence. At this step the Board weighs the evidence presented.  We find that no physician has concluded that the employee was or is PTD.  We give more weight to the medical professionals regarding the employee’s physical capabilities than the employee’s lay statements.
  We find that while every job identified by Ms. Hitchcock may not be a good fit for the employee, there are positions regularly and continuously available to the employee should he choose to return to the work force.  Based upon the opinions of the physicians and Ms. Hitchcock, we find the employer has established regular and continuous work suited to the employee’s light sedentary capabilities.  Therefore, on the record before us, we conclude the employee is not eligible for PTD benefits.

II.
ENTITLEMENT TO PPI BENEFITS


At the time of the employee’s injury, AS 23.30.190 provided, in part:

(a) in case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality. . . the  compensation is $135,000 multiplied by the employee's percentage of permanent  impairment of the whole person. The compensation is payable in a single lump sum, except as otherwise provided in AS 23.30.041 . . . ."

(b) All determinations of the existence and degree of permanent impairment shall be made strictly and solely under the whole person determination as set out in the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment . . . 

AS 23.30.190(b) is specific and mandatory that PPI ratings must be calculated under the AMA Guides.  We have consistently followed this statute in our decisions and orders.   We require specific, whole number percentage ratings in accord with the AMA Guides.   The record contains two PPI ratings under the AMA Guides, a 10% rating in 1997 by Dr. Peterson and a 20% rating by Dr. Gritzka in 2003.  We find Dr. Gritzka’s testimony that the employee did not cooperate and did not provide a valid lumbar range of motion renders his rating invalid.  Accordingly we find, on the record presented as a whole, that there is only one valid PPI rating, a 10% rating that was paid in a lump sum in 1997.  Therefore, we deny the employee’s claim for additional PPI benefits.

III. 
MEDICAL BENEFITS

AS 23.30.095(a) provides, in part:

The employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance of treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period, which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires....

The presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(a) also specifically applies to claims for medical benefits. If complications from the injury or treatment occur, the subsequent treatment would still be compensable, and the employer would still be liable for continuing medical benefits under subsection 95(a).   The presumption can also attach with a work-related aggravation/ acceleration context without a specific event.  Providence Washington Ins. Co. v. Bonner, 680 P.2d 96 (Alaska 1984).  Treatment must be reasonable and necessary to be payable under AS 23.30.095(a).   In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.   

We find this case is medically complex, and medical evidence is necessary to raise the presumption.  We find the opinion of Dr. Gritzka that the employee’s employment with the employer was a substantial factor in significantly worsening the employee’s back resulting in the need for surgery sufficient to attach the presumption of compensability regarding medical benefits for his back condition. We find that Duract was voluntarily withdrawn form the market because it possible liver problems in .0001% of persons taking Duract for longer than 10 days.  However, we find no medical opinion supporting the employee’s claims regarding his allegation that Duract is responsible for his pancreatitis and liver conditions.  Nor do we find any medical evidence to support the employee’s claim that his high blood pressure or dizziness is attributable to his work injury. Regarding all claimed conditions save the employee’s back condition, we find the employee is unable to attach the presumption of compensability. Even if we somehow find that the employee attached the presumption to all conditions save the employee’s back condition with his testimony (without any medical evidence), we conclude the employer has overcome the presumption. 

The employer can overcome the presumption of compensability 1 of 2 ways:  (A) present affirmative evidence showing that the employee does not suffer work-related disability; or (B) eliminate all reasonable possibilities that the disability is work-related.   Merely showing another cause of the disability does not, in itself, rebut the compensability of the claim against an employer.   The same standards used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link apply to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to overcome the presumption.   "Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion, the evidence tending to rebut the presumption should be examined by itself."   When examined in isolation we find the opinions of Drs. Williams, Fax, Davies, and Ramsthel that the employee’s September 1994 work injury only resulted in a lumbosacral strain and the objective MRI taken shortly after the injury resolved affirmative evidence that the employee does not continue to suffer a work-related injury.
Because the employer has rebutted the presumption with substantial evidence, we review the record as whole to determine whether the employee has proved his claim, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the September 1994 work injury is a substantial cause in his alleged current disability and need treatment.  We find, as to all medical conditions except those related to his back, he has not.  

We find no evidence other than the employee’s assertion that his dizziness was attributable to his blood pressure medication and his need for blood pressure medication is due to the September 1994 injury.  We find the employee’s comments to health care providers to be inconsistent.  We find the employee told Ms. Larsen in October 11, 1999 that he had changed blood pressure medicine 5 times in two weeks. We find the employee admitted to Dr. Deede on October 22, 1999 that he had not been taking his blood pressure consistently.  We find this to be contradictory and find the employee not credible.
  We find the medical records do not support the employee’s story.  

We find the employee was prescribed Duract for low back pain.  However, we do not find that the employee has established by a preponderance of the evidence that his liver failure and pancreatitis was due to anything other than excessive alcoholism.  We find the fact that when the employee quit drinking his liver enzymes returned to normal objective evidence that is more credible than the employee’s assertions.  We find Dr. Sahagun’s reports trustworthy.  We find them to be thorough.  We find the absence of comments or questions regarding Duract, when it had been pulled off the market just a few years earlier does not corroborate the employee’s testimony.  

We find the employee has a long history of alcohol abuse, which pre-existed his 1994 work injury.  No physician supports the employee’s allegation that work caused the employee to drink.  We find the employee’s pancreatitis, alcoholism, and related disorders are not work related.

We find the employee suffered a low back injury in the course and scope of work while training in Reno, Nevada.  We find the employee’s condition steadily worsened.  We find the opinions of Drs. Williams and Fax that the September 1994 injury was a lumbosacral strain and that the surgery not related unconvincing.  We find the explanation provided by Dr. Gritzka reasonable.  We find the employee’s work related injury aggravated a preexisting nonsymptomatic condition.  

We give more weight to Dr. Gritzka’s opinion regarding the employee’s back condition.  We find that a reasonable person would accept Dr. Gritzka’s explanation and opinion over the explanation and opinion provided by Drs. Williams and Fax.  Accordingly we find the employee’s 1994 work injury aggravated, accelerated, and worsened the employee’s preexisting spondylolisthesis.  We find the employee’s back injury is compensable under DeYong v. Nana Marriot.
  We adopt Dr. Gritzka’s recommendations regarding the reasonableness and necessity of past and future medical treatment.  We find conservative, non-narcotic pain medications reasonable and necessary under the facts presented. We find the surgeries performed by Dr. Peterson reasonable and necessary medical treatment for a work related injury.  We agree with Dr. Gritzka that the services provided by Dr. Roderer were also reasonable and necessary medical treatment for the work related injury.  We agree with Dr. Gritzka that the Racz procedure and a spinal cord stimulator, under the facts presented, are neither reasonable nor necessary medical treatment   

After careful review of the record, testimony, and argument we conclude the only medical condition related to the employee’s work injury is his low back.  Furthermore, we conclude no further treatment, other than conservative nonnarcotic modalities are reasonable and necessary at this time.

IV.
MEDICAL AND RELATED TRANSPORTATION BENEFITS

8 AAC 45.082(d) provides, in part: 

Unless the employer disputes the prescription charges or transportation expenses, an employer shall reimburse an employee's prescription charges or transportation expenses for medical treatment within 30 days after the employer receives . . .  an itemization of the dates of travel and transportation expenses for each date of travel.

Reasonable transportation, meals, and lodging related to treatment are compensable under AS 23.30.095(a), 8 AAC 45.082(d), and 8 AAC 45.084.   However, the employee has identified no specific unreimbursed travel costs related to compensable medical treatment.  Consequently, we will deny and dismiss the employee’s claim for medical transportation benefits, without prejudice.

V.
TTD BENEFITS

AS 23.30.185 provides:

In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act defines "disability" as "incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment."   The Act provides for benefits at 80% of the employee's spendable weekly wage during the continuance of disability either total or partial in character but temporary in quality."  

The employee claims TTD benefits for dizziness from high blood pressure medication alleging the high blood pressure was caused by pain caused by his work injury.  He claims TTD benefits from September 1, 1999 through February 15, 2000.  Accordingly, we will review only that period of time in our consideration of the employee’s eligibility for disability compensation.  

The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act at AS 23.30.120 provides a presumption of compensability for an employee's injuries.  AS 23.30.120(a) reads, in part:  "In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. . . ."  The presumption attaches if the employee makes a minimal showing of a preliminary link between the disability and employment.   The Alaska Supreme Court held "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."   

To make a prima facie case, the employee must present some evidence that (1) he has an injury and (2) an employment event or exposure could have caused it. "[I]n claims 'based on highly technical medical considerations,' medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection."   In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.   

In the case of the employee’s claim for TTD benefits from September 1, 1999 through February 15, 2000, the employee claims he was unable to work because his pain caused high blood pressure, which in turn caused dizziness.  We find this is a medically complicated condition, requiring technical medical evidence to establish a preliminary evidentiary link between the employee’s dizziness, high blood pressure and his work injury.   As set forth above, we find the employee’s dizziness was not work related.   Although the employee has testified to his belief that pain from his work injury caused high blood pressure, we do not find any medical evidence in the record to support that contention.  The employee has provided no medical records indicating that he could not work during this time period due to his work injury.  The employee admitted he was drinking during this period.   He has provided conflicting evidence regarding his blood pressure medication during this period of time.  Even if, taking the employee’s testimony in isolation, we were to find the presumption attached, we find the testimony of the physicians in the record substantial evidence to rebut the presumption.  As discussed above, we find the employee’s testimony on this point not credible.  Reviewing the entire medical record, we would find the preponderance of the evidence indicates the employee’s work injury was not a cause of his high blood pressure or dizziness.   Because we find there is insufficient evidence to raise even the presumption of compensability, the employee’s claim for TTD benefits from September 1, 1999 through February 15, 2000 is denied.  

VI.
PENALTY UNDER AS 23.30.155(e)

AS 23.30.155 provides, in part:

(b) The first installment of compensation becomes due on the 14th day after the employer has knowledge of the injury or death.  On this date all compensation then due shall be paid.  Subsequent compensation shall be paid in installments, every 14 days, except where the board determines that payment in installments should be made monthly or at some other period. . . .

(d) If the employer controverts the right to compensation the employer shall file with the board and send to the employee a notice of controversion on or before the 21st day after the employer has knowledge of the alleged injury or death.

(e) If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it.  This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section or unless the nonpayment is excused by the board after a showing by the employer that owing to conditions over which the employer had no control the installment could not be paid within the period prescribed for the payment. . . .

We have awarded medical benefits only for the employee’s back.  The employer served and filed a Controversion Notice, denying liability for medical benefits on October 2, 2001, and again on August 29, 2002, September 27, 2002, October 2, 2002, and September 9, 2003, denying benefits based on the EME report of Drs. Deede, Williams, Fax, and Ramsthel.  We find the employer’s Controversion Notice was timely under AS 23.30.155(d) and with a good faith basis.  Therefore, no penalty is due under the terms of AS 23.30.155(e). 

VII.
INTEREST

8 AAC 45.155(q) provides, in part:

An employer shall pay interest on compensation that is not paid when due.  Interest required under this subsection accrues at the rate specified in AS 09.30.070(a) that is effect on the date the compensation is due.                  

For injuries that occurred before July 1, 2000, AS 23.30.155(p) requires the payment of interest at a statutory rate, as provided at AS 09.30.070(a), from the date at which each installment of compensation, including medical compensation, is due.   The Courts have consistently instructed us to award interest to claimants for the time-value of money, as a matter of course.   Accordingly, where the employee has paid out of pocket we will award interest to the employee and where the physician has not been paid we will award interest to the physician, in accord with AS 23.30.155(p), on all unpaid benefits from the dates on which those benefits were due.

ORDER

1. The employee’s claim for TTD benefits is denied.

2. The employee’s claim for PPI benefits in excess of 10% is denied.

3. The employee’s claim for PTD benefits is denied.

4. The employee is entitled to medical benefits for his work related back injury.  All other medical claims are denied.

5. The employee’s claim for medical related-transportation benefits is denied without prejudice.

6. The employee’s claim for penalties is denied.
7.  Where the employee has paid out of pocket we will award interest to the employee and where a physician has not been paid we will award interest to the physician, in accord with AS 23.30.155(p), on all unpaid benefits from the dates on which those benefits were due.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on October  6, 2005.
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